1992

Utah v. Macial : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Jurisdiction is conferred on this Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. section 78-2a-3(2)(f) (1992), and Utah R. Crim. P. 26(2)(a), whereby a defendant in a district court criminal action may take an appeal to the Court of Appeals from a final judgment and conviction for any crime other than a first degree or capital felony.

STATUTES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

The pertinent parts of the following statutes and constitutional provisions are contained in the text of this brief or in the Addendum:

Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(1)(a)(ii)
Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(1)(b)(ii)
Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-201
Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-401
Utah Code Ann. § 77-17-10
Utah R. Evid. 609
U.S. Const. amend. XIV
Utah Const. art. I, § 10
Utah Const. art. I, § 12

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether the lone black female, a prospective juror who had been involved in a discrimination lawsuit, was improperly excluded by the prosecutor on the basis that she was "whiny."

To the extent that a trial court's ruling on the proffered explanation of a prosecutor turns on the latter's credibility, we agree with the United States Supreme Court that "a reviewing court ordinarily should give those findings great deference." (Batson v. Kentucky, [476 U.S. 79, 98 n.21 (1986)]) Our decisions demonstrate, however, "ordinarily" does not mean "inevitably": in some cases the reviewing court may conclude that the explanation is inherently implausible in light of the whole record. And even when there is no doubt of the prosecutor's good faith, the issue whether a given explanation constitutes a constitutionally permissible--i.e. nondiscriminatory--justification for the particular peremptory challenge remains a question of law.

People v. Turner, 726 P.2d 102, 107 n.6 (Cal. 1986); Chew v. State, 562 A.2d 1270, 1276 (Md. App. 1989) ("an appellate court will give great deference to the first level findings of fact made by a trial judge, but having done so, will make an independent constitutional appraisal concerning the existence of neutral, non-racial reasons for the striking of a juror"); accord State v. Cantu, 778 P.2d 517 (Utah 1989); see also 778 P.2d at 519 (Hall, C.J., dissenting) (opinion disagreeing with the majority's unwillingness to defer to the trial court's findings and conclusion of law); cf. State v. Butler, 731 S.W.2d 265, 268 (Mo. App. 1987) ("'Rubber stamp' approval of all nonracial explanations, no matter how whimsical or fanciful, would cripple Batson's commitment to 'ensure that no

citizen is disqualified from jury service because of his race'");
Gamble v. State, 357 S.E.2d 792, 794 (Ga. 1987).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal from a judgment and conviction for three counts of "Unlawful Distribution, Offering, Agreeing, Consenting, or Arranging to Distribute a Controlled" Substance, all second degree felonies, in violation of Utah Code Ann. sections 58-37-8(1)(a)(ii), -8(1)(b)(i) (1991), in the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable Michael R. Murphy, presiding. (R 107-09). On February 26, 1992, a jury found Defendant/Appellant Louis Lee Macial guilty of the above entitled offenses. (R 107-09).

For each conviction, the trial court sentenced Mr. Macial to an indeterminate term of one-to-fifteen years in the Utah State Prison. (R 116-18) (May 4, 1992 sentencing order). The court ordered the three sentences to run concurrently with one another. Mr. Macial was also ordered to pay \$180 in restitution for his conviction on count I. (R 116). The court then stayed the sentences, releasing Mr. Macial to Adult Probation and Parole for thirty-six months. The restitution order remained one of the conditions of probation. (R 119).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Of the nineteen people questioned during the jury selection process, three were excused for cause, four were peremptorily challenged by the State and four were peremptorily challenged by

Mr. Macial. (R 43). The remaining eight person jury, none of whom were apparently persons of color, convicted Louis Macial, a Hispanic male, of the three counts alleged in the information. (R 6-7, 43, 134-204).

The prosecutor peremptorily challenged Bettye English, the only black person in the jury selection pool, because "I [the prosecutor] found her, for lack of a better term, to be somewhat whiny. I don't think she would be a good juror with the other jurors. And that was the sole basis. It had nothing to do with her race or anything else." (R 216). The prosecutor did not believe that a lawsuit involving Ms. English, which alleged that she "was terminated from [her] job through discrimination[,]" was "something that was so personal that it would be embarrassing to speak of before the group." (R 203, 216). Previously, when the court had asked the jurors of their prior involvement in lawsuits, Ms. English approached the bench and used a note to explain her situation. The court accepted the prosecutor's explanation as a race-neutral reason. (R 216).

The court also determined that "Juror No. 11," a person¹ referred to by number rather than name out of concern for his privacy, could not sit as a juror. In a note shown privately to the

¹ The trial court issued an order, for the purposes of appeal, which requested that the record refer to the juror by number rather than by name in an effort to protect the juror from the embarrassment or humiliation accompanying the public disclosure of his prior felony conviction. (R 196-97). Perhaps the same courtesy should be extended to Ms. English in light of her feelings of "embarrassment."

court, juror #11 revealed, "I have been convicted of sale of a controled [sic] sub. Exgpounded [sic] 1978." (R 179).

Following the trial court's reading of the jury selection statutes, it concluded that a prior felony conviction disqualified juror #11 from jury duty notwithstanding the fact that the crime had been expunged. (R 193, 196). The court further ruled that he would be biased and could be challenged for cause. (R 194).

Other facts relevant to the jury selection process are contained elsewhere in this brief. See infra Argument.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The State peremptorily challenged Bettye English, the only black juror, on the basis that her involvement in a discrimination lawsuit was not "something that was so personal that it would be embarrassing to speak of before the group." When the court had asked the jurors of their prior legal involvement, Ms. English approached the bench and used a note to explain her situation, rather than through an oral response.

By comparison, however, when another juror privately disclosed his involvement in a prior legal matter with a note, the court and the prosecutor recognized his need for privacy. This other juror, a convicted felon with an expunged crime, was later designated "Juror No.11" out of concern for the public humiliation accompanying a reference to him by name through the court record.

The irony of the disparate treatment cannot be ignored: the conviction of a juror, which is often exploited publicly by the

prosecution, was deemed to be a legitimate personal matter, but the lawsuit of another juror, which involved allegations of discriminatory termination, was discounted by the State because it did not seem "so personal that it would be embarrassing to speak of before the group." Juror No.11's privacy concerns regarding his expunged felony conviction were not cited as a reason for his exclusion, while at the same time, Ms. English's privacy concerns became a factor relevant to the State's use of its peremptory challenge. Privacy concerns should have either been viewed alike or ignored altogether.

A facially neutral rebuttal disclaimer constitutes an inadequate legal explanation. Since indirect discriminatory peremptory challenges are just as improper as blatant racist removals, a prosecutor's explanation must be neutral, related to the case being tried, clear and reasonably specific, and legitimate. The prosecutor's contention, that the sole black juror was "whiny" and would not "be a good juror with the other jurors" was vague and speculative. The State's explanation reflected no bias held by Ms. English and it was especially unacceptable in light of the apparently "pro-prosecution" circumstances in her background. Further, even if "whiny" properly characterized her, it was unrelated to the case and would have had no bearing on the guilt or innocence determination.

When a juror is improperly excluded, the harmless error analysis is inapplicable. Since courts do not invade the province of the jury, a new trial is required.

ARGUMENT

POINT

THE PROSECUTOR IMPROPERLY USED ITS PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE AGAINST A FEMALE, BLACK JUROR

In Powers v. Ohio, 499 U.S. ---, 113 L.Ed.2d 411, 111 S.Ct. 1364 (1991), the United Supreme Court reiterated the message of Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986), the seminal opinion regarding the use of peremptory challenges:

Batson "was designed 'to serve multiple ends,' " only one of which was to protect individual defendants from discrimination in the selection of jurors. Batson recognized that a prosecutor's discriminatory use of peremptory challenges harms the excluded jurors and the community at large.

Powers, 113 L.Ed.2d at 422 (citations omitted); Batson, 476 U.S. at 85 n.4 & 99 n.22 ("The standard we adopt under the Federal Constitution [U.S. Const. amend. XIV] is designed to ensure that a State does not use peremptory challenges to strike any black juror because of his race"); accord United States v. David, 803 F.2d 1567, 1571 (11th Cir. 1986) ("under Batson, the striking of one black juror for a racial reason violates the Equal Protection Clause, even where other black jurors are seated, and even when valid reasons for the striking of some black jurors are shown"); State v. Butler, 731 S.W.2d 265, 269 (Mo. App. 1987); Floyd v. State, 539 So.2d 357, 364 (Ala. Cr. App. 1987).

Utah's state supreme court has similarly recognized that the State's exclusion of even a single juror because of the individual's race is offensive. State v. Span, 819 P.2d 329, 340

(Utah 1991) ("The discriminatory peremptory challenge of a minority juror simply because a prosecutor believes that the juror's race may influence the juror's decision in the case is offensive regardless of the defendant's race"); State v. Cantu, 750 P.2d 591, 595 (Utah 1988) ("Cantu I") ("The defendant may rely on the fact that the use of peremptory challenges permits those who are of mind to discriminate to do so").

Given the sensitive nature of the involved issues, courts have also noted that "an attorney, although not intentionally discriminating, may try to find reasons other than race to challenge a black juror, when race may be his primary factor in deciding to strike the juror." Floyd v. State, 539 So.2d 357, 361 (Ala. Cr. App. 1987). Nevertheless, "the trial judge must be careful not to confuse a specific reason given by the state's attorney for his challenge, with a 'specific bias' of the juror, which may justify the peremptory challenge." Id. (emphasis added).

As discussed below, the trial court in the case at bar erred when it mistakenly accepted the prosecutor's specified reason--that the female black juror was "whiny"--even though Ms. Bettye English's alleged whininess reflected no bias whatsoever as it pertained to the facts of the case. The prosecutor also failed to provide a clear and distinct, legitimately, related basis.

A. THE APPLICABLE ANALYTICAL FRAMEWORK

In State v. Harrison, 805 P.2d 769 (Utah App. 1991), the opinion set forth five considerations relevant to a peremptory

challenge analysis: (1) standing; (2) a proper objection; (3) a prima facie showing of improper discrimination; (4) the rebuttal explanation; and (5) the prejudicial effect. Id. at 774.

However, as predicted by the opinion, the Powers decision rejected "racial identity with excluded jurors as a standing requirement for such objections." 805 P.2d at 775 (citing Powers, 113 L.Ed.2d 411); Span, 819 P.2d at 340 ("no standing requirement exists which requires the defendant to be of the same race as the challenged juror").

The second and third considerations similarly require no analysis because:

once a party accused of improper discrimination attempts to rebut that accusation with evidence that the challenged action was proper, the question of whether a prima facie case was made in the first place "is no longer relevant." Instead, the focus shifts to the ultimate issue of whether improper discrimination has occurred.

Harrison, 805 P.2d at 777 (citations omitted); accord Williams v. State, 548 So.2d 501, 504 (Ala. Cr. App. 1988) ("We follow the rule that, when the prosecution's explanations for its strikes are of record, we will review the trial court's findings of discrimination vel non, even though there has been no express finding by the trial court that a prima facie case has been established"); Gamble v. State, 357 S.E.2d 792, 794 (Ga. 1987).

In regards to the fourth consideration, the adequacy of the rebuttal, "[r]elying on Batson, it has been found that an explanation given by a prosecutor for the exercise of a peremptory

challenge must be '(1) neutral, (2) related to the case being tried, (3) clear and reasonably specific, and (4) legitimate.'" State v. Cantu, 778 P.2d 517, 518 (Utah 1989) ("Cantu II") (citing State v. Butler, 731 S.W.2d 265, 268 (Mo. App. 1987)); Gamble, 357 S.E.2d at 795.² The prosecutor's explanation in the present case did not meet the necessary requirements.

When the court had asked the jurors about their prior involvement in lawsuits, Ms. English requested to approach the bench and then responded to the court's inquiry with a note: "I, Bettye English, was attempting to sue the Board of Education because I was terminated from my job through discrimination because I did not have EEO involved --" (R 203). After the State had been apprised of the note's contents, the prosecutor reacted: "I felt, based on her unwillingness to speak before the rest of the group about a matter

² Other comparable factors cast doubt upon the legitimacy of a purportedly race-neutral explanation:

We agree that the presence of one or more of these factors will tend to show that the state's reasons are not actually supported by the record or are an impermissible pretext: (1) alleged group bias not shown to be shared by the juror in question, (2) failure to examine the juror or perfunctory examination, assuming neither the trial court nor opposing counsel had questioned the juror, (3) singling the juror out for special questioning designed to evoke a certain response, (4) the prosecutor's reason is unrelated to the facts of the case, and (5) a challenge based on reasons equally applicable to juror [sic] who were not challenged.

Cantu II, 778 P.2d at 518-19 (quoting State v. Slappy, 522 So.2d 18, 22 (Fla. 1988)); Floyd v. State, 539 So.2d 357, 362 (Ala. App. 1987).

that I didn't find -- I'm sure she felt that it was personal, naturally, but her note indicated she had a lawsuit against the school district. I didn't see it to be something that was so personal that it would be embarrassing to speak of before the group." (R 216).

B. THE PROSECUTOR'S EXPLANATION WAS NOT RACE
NEUTRAL BECAUSE SIMILARLY SITUATED JURORS
WERE TREATED DIFFERENTLY

The prosecutor's explanation must remain consistent with the treatment extended similarly situated jurors. See State v. Butler, 731 S.W.2d 265, 271 (Mo. App. 1987) (conflicting reasons do not suffice because "[t]he prosecutor cannot have in both ways"); People v. Turner, 726 P.2d 102, 109 (Cal. 1986); cf. Floyd v. State, 539 So.2d 357, 362-63 (Ala. Cr. App. 1987) (disparate treatment of the prospective jurors is improper).

In the case at bar, two jurors disclosed their involvement in a legal matter with a written note rather than through an oral response. Bettye English, the lone black juror, revealed her involvement in a discrimination lawsuit with a note. (R 203). Immediately after Ms. English had submitted her note, "Juror No. 11" approached the bench and conveyed a message of his own. (R 162).³ Although juror #11 was subsequently excused, neither the court nor

³ See supra note 1. A distinction should also be noted that, in contrast to viewing juror #11's written note as a personal matter which should have been revealed to the public, both the prosecutor and the court instead focused on whether juror #11's expunged felony conviction disqualified him as a juror. (R 179-99).

the prosecutor viewed juror #11's written message as an improper attempt to protect his privacy.

Juror #11 is the convicted felon, an individual whose past history is typically emphasized by the prosecution and exposed in court for purposes of trial (e.g. impeachment) and sentencing (e.g. arrest record). See, e.g., Utah R. Evid. 609; Utah Code Ann. §§ 76-3-201, -401. Notwithstanding the prosecution's contention that he "didn't [view Ms. English's lawsuit as] "something that was so personal that it would be embarrassing to speak of before the group[,]" (R 216), juror #11's expunged felony conviction was, by comparison, atypically viewed as a personal and potentially embarrassing past legal matter worthy of protection. See (R 179-80; 185; 194-97).

Ms. English and juror #11 were treated differently, even though they had both revealed a personal legal matter with a note. The references to Ms. English's sensitivity and her reluctance to speak in public contrasts with the compassion extended juror #11, a convict whose past often becomes the subject of an "on-the-record" inquiry and humiliation. The jurors' past legal involvement--regardless of whether it pertained to a felony offense or a discrimination case--should have been viewed alike, and not as a potentially embarrassing situation for one juror and as a circumstance unrelated to the exclusion of another. Unlike the court's ability to seal and protect a convicted juror from the public disclosure of his crime, the improperly accepted peremptory challenge subjected Ms. English to open humiliation beyond that

already experienced in her discrimination lawsuit. Georgia v. McCollum, 505 U.S. ---, 120 L.Ed.2d 33, 44, 112 S.Ct. 2348 (1992) ("Regardless of who invokes the discriminatory challenge, . . . the juror is subjected to open and public racial discrimination"); Powers, 113 L.Ed.2d at 427 ("A venireperson excluded from jury service because of race suffers a profound personal humiliation heightened by its public character"); see supra note 1.

C. THE PROSECUTOR'S EXPLANATION LACKED CLARITY,
SPECIFICITY, AND LEGITIMACY

The prosecutor also deemed Ms. English, "for lack of a better term, to be somewhat whiny. I don't think she would be a good juror with the other jurors. And that was the sole basis. It had nothing to do with her race or anything else." (R 216). The court sided with the prosecutor:

THE COURT: All right. You have made the record. I mean -- well, what [the prosecutor] has said to me, to my mind, justifies, for reasons other than race, his peremptory challenge. What he has said here corresponded with my observations of Ms. English's demeanor, and that's why I ruled that the reasons stated by [the prosecutor] are not made up, they are not pretentious but, in fact, made sense to me. That is the reason he did what he did rather than doing it for reasons of race.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Perhaps I ought to respond to that, because my perception of her demeanor was nothing like that. Of course, we all have different perspectives.

(R 216-17).

1. The prosecutor failed to cite a specific "bias" of the juror

"[T]he trial judge must be careful not to confuse a specific reason given by the state's attorney for his challenge, with a 'specific bias' of the juror, which may justify the peremptory challenge." Floyd v. State, 539 So.2d 357, 361 (Ala. Cr. App. 1987) (emphasis added); State v. Cantu, 778 P.2d 517, 518 (Utah 1989) (construing People v. Hall, 672 P.2d 854, 857 (1983) ("peremptories must be based on grounds reasonably related to case on trial or for reasons of specific bias")); see also People v. Wheeler, 583 P.2d 748 (1978). The trial court's focus in the case at bar was misplaced. No bias was suggested in the prosecutor's response.

Other than the generalized questions addressed to the jury pool as a whole, the State asked no questions of Ms. English which could have tested her impartiality. Cf. People v. Turner, 726 P.2d 102, 111 (Cal. 1986) (citation omitted) ("A prosecutor's failure to engage Black prospective jurors 'in more than desultory voir dire, or indeed to ask them any questions at all,' before striking them peremptorily, is one factor supporting an inference that the challenge is in fact based on group bias"); Cantu II, 778 P.2d at 518 (quoting Slappy, 522 So.2d at 22 ("factors that may cast doubt upon the legitimacy of a purportedly race-neutral explanation [include the] . . . failure to examine the juror or perfunctory examination, assuming neither the trial court nor opposing counsel had questioned the juror, . . .")); Butler, 731 S.W.2d at 269

("Without some form of inquiry, a prosecutor could easily conceal his true reason for removing black jurors by simply inventing 'neutral' reasons for the strikes"); Floyd, 539 So.2d at 362. Absent the detection of bias and because of the lack of questioning, the State provided no legitimate reason for Ms. English's exclusion.

2. The prosecutor failed to state a clear and reasonably specific explanation

The State's assertion of Ms. English being "whiny" is so broad and nebulous that it failed to satisfy the "clear and reasonably specific" requirement for race-neutral explanations. See Cantu II, 778 P.2d at 518; Williams v. State, 548 So.2d 501, 504 (Ala. Cr. App. 1988); cf. People v. Turner, 726 P.2d 102, 110 (Cal 1986) ("the assertion that 'something in her work' would 'not be good for the People's case' is so lacking in content as to amount to virtually no explanation"); Williams, 548 So.2d at 507 ("The prosecutor's reasoning that she was 'docile' during voir dire questioning and was 'lacking the strength of conviction it would take to sit in judgment in a case of this magnitude' is also doubtful"); Batson, 476 U.S. at 106 (Marshall, J., concurring) ("A prosecutor's own conscious or unconscious racism may lead him easily to the conclusion that a prospective black juror is 'sullen,' or 'distant,' a characterization that would not have come to his mind if a white juror had acted identically"). Moreover, the prosecutor's allegation was expressly rejected by defense counsel who stated, "my perception of her demeanor was nothing like that." (R 216-17).

Indeed, since Bettye English possessed a background apparently favorable to the prosecution, the State's decision to exclude the black juror merely because of her alleged "whininess" casts further doubt upon the legitimacy of the explanation. Ms. English has a daughter who works for the FBI and a son who "had an electric car stolen from the house, and someone broke into his truck and took a jack and CB and stuff like that." (R 164, 168). The State should not have been allowed to exclude her. Cf. Turner, 726 P.2d at 106 (citation omitted) ("On voir dire neither had expressed any views indicating partiality to the defense; on the contrary, both prospective jurors 'had backgrounds which suggested that, had they been white, the prosecution would not have peremptorily excused them'"); see also (R 140-53) (Ms. English, [who was a wife, a mother, and a grandparent], possessed characteristics common to other jurors who were not excluded).

In addition, the prosecutor's claim that Ms. English "would [not] be a good juror with the other jurors" finds no support in the record and is a more nebulous "conclusory nuance" than the "whiny" characterization. See People v. Washington, 234 Cal.Rptr. 204 (Cal. App. 4 Dist. 1987) (reversal required because the prosecutor's contentions that the juror--who "spoke softly," "would not be able to speak up [or to stand up] to the other jurors," and "didn't appear to be a decision maker"--was "neither supported by the record nor the law"); Williams, 548 So.2d at 506-07 ("The speculation that her [the prospective juror] having heard of appellant might prejudice her against the prosecution is just that--speculation

. . . [and her] connection, possibly negative, with 'law enforcement,' . . . also appears to be nothing more than speculation and is unsupported by voir dire examination"); Butler, 731 S.W.2d at 272 (prosecutor cannot speculate that because nurses are generally compassionate, the involved nurse would also be "inclined to feel sorry for defendants"). The State's rebuttal explanation failed to set forth a legitimate, race-neutral explanation.

D. THE PROSECUTOR FAILED TO STATE A REASON
RELATED TO THE CASE BEING TRIED

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