1992

## Utah v. Macial : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant has failed to demonstrate that the trial court finding that the prosecutor's challenge of one of the jurors was not racially motivated was clearly erroneous. The trial court correctly found that the prosecutor's explanation showed that exercise of the peremptory challenge was neutral and thus not purposeful racial discrimination.

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE STATE'S CHALLENGE OF MS. ENGLISH WAS RACIALLY NEUTRAL AND THUS NOT PURPOSEFUL DISCRIMINATION.

Defendant's claim is that the trial court erred in finding that the prosecution's challenge of Ms. English was not racially motivated.<sup>2</sup> A party attacking a peremptory jury

---

<sup>2</sup>At the trial level, defendant claimed it was "a denial of his due process not to have any minorities on the jury" (R. at 215). On appeal, he claims a violation of an equal protection right (Brief of Appellant at 7). These are different claims requiring different analyses. A jury selection process which systematically excludes certain classes of people so that the jury pool does not represent a fair cross section of the community is a violation of due process under the sixth and fourteenth amendments to the United States Constitution. Duren v. Missouri, 439 U.S. 357, 358-9 (1978). A racially motivated peremptory challenge is a violation of the equal protection clause. Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S. Ct. 1712 (1986).

In spite of defendant's use of different constitutional terminology at trial and on appeal, the State is not arguing waiver because counsel's use of the term "due process" at trial clearly was a misstatement. His argument did not involve the composition

challenge on equal protection grounds must establish a prima facie case of purposeful discrimination; if a prima facie case is established, the challenged party must then provide a race-neutral explanation to rebut the prima facie case. Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 93-94, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 1721 (1986); State v. Span, 819 P.2d 329, 338 (Utah 1991).

On appeal, the trial court's factual findings of whether purposeful discrimination has occurred must be given deference and will only be set aside if clearly erroneous. State v. Cantu (II), 778 P.2d 517, 518 (Utah 1989); State v. Harrison, 805 P.2d 769, 778 (Utah App.), cert. denied, 817 P.2d 327 (Utah 1991). If inadequate factual findings exist, the matter must be remanded to the trial court for further determination. Batson, 476 U.S. at 100, 106 S. Ct. at 1725; State v. Cantu (I), 750 P.2d 591, 597 (Utah 1988). If purposeful discrimination in the use of the state's peremptory challenges is ultimately found, reversal of the defendant's conviction is mandated without regard to the harmlessness of the constitutional error. Batson, 476 U.S. at 100, 106 S. Ct. at 1725. Contra Harrison, 805 P.2d at 780; Cantu (I), 750 P.2d at 597 (both incorrectly holding that a "harmless beyond a reasonable doubt" standard is applicable).

In Harrison, this Court stated:

a prima facie case of improper discrimination  
in the exercise of peremptory challenges is

---

of the jury venire from which the jury was selected, i.e., a due process fair cross section argument. His argument focused, instead, on the prosecution's peremptory challenge; thus, the claim at trial involved equal protection.

raised by showing (1) that defendant is a member of a cognizable racial group; (2) that the prosecutor used peremptory challenges to remove members of defendant's race<sup>3</sup> from the jury panel; and (3) that these facts and other relevant circumstances raise an inference that the panelists were removed because of their race.

805 P.2d at 774. As in Harrison, defendant has made no showing, other than to state for the record that Ms. English was black, that she was a member of a racial minority. Id. at 776.

However, again as in Harrison, the State did not argue to the trial court that defendant had failed to make out a prima facie case. Id. at 777. The issue of whether defendant made out a prima facie case of improper discrimination "became irrelevant when the prosecutor failed to contest it at trial." Id. at 777. See also, United States v. Johnson, 941 F.2d 1102, 1108 (10th Cir. 1991) ("the first issue of whether prima facie case of discrimination exists becomes moot whenever the prosecutor offers a race-neutral explanation for his peremptory challenges and the trial court rules on the ultimate factual issue of whether the prosecutor intentionally discriminated"); United States v. Forbes, 816 F.2d 1006, 1010 (5th Cir. 1987) ("when the prosecution's explanation is of record, we will review only the district court's finding of discrimination *vel non*").

---

<sup>3</sup>The Utah Supreme Court has noted:

Powers [v. Ohio], \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 111 S. Ct. 1364 (1991)] clearly eliminated any standing requirement which Batson imposed and held that a defendant of any race may challenge the discriminatory use of peremptory challenges on equal protection grounds.

Span, 819 P.2d 329, 339 (Utah 1991) (footnote omitted).

When defendant objected to the State's use of a peremptory challenge to strike Ms. English, the court asked the State to explain its reasons (R. at 215-26). The State then presented its explanation which the trial court found to be race-neutral (R. at 216-17). That finding should be accorded "great deference on review" because it "turns largely on credibility." Id. at 778. The Utah Supreme Court, in State v. Cantu (II), 778 P.2d 517 (Utah 1989), stated that

an explanation given by a prosecutor for the exercise of a peremptory challenge must be "(1) neutral, (2) related to the case being tried, (3) clear and reasonably specific, and (4) legitimate."

Cantu (II), 778 P.2d at 518 (quoting State v. Butler, 731 S.W.2d 265, 268 (Mo.App. 1987)).

When asked by the court, the prosecution explained the peremptory challenge:

[B]ased on her unwillingness to speak before the rest of the group about a matter that I didn't find -- I'm sure she felt that it was personal, naturally, but her note indicated she had a lawsuit against the school district. I didn't see it to be something that was so personal that it would be embarrassing to speak of before the group.

Frankly, I found her, for lack of a better term, to be somewhat whiny. I don't think she would be a good juror with the other jurors. And that was the sole basis. It had nothing to do with her race or anything else.

(R. at 216) (emphasis added). The court found that explanation to be acceptable:

[W]hat Mr. Behrens has said to me, to my mind, justifies, for reasons other than race, his peremptory challenge. What he has said here corresponded with my observations of Ms.

English's demeanor, and that's why I ruled that the reasons stated by Mr. Behrens . . . made sense to me.

(R. at 216) (emphasis added). The trial court based its finding of no Batson violation on its own observations of the demeanor of the prospective juror. Since that court is in a better position to make those observations than an appellate court, this Court should defer to that finding. Harrison, 805 P.2d at 778.

Ms. English exhibited unwillingness to speak up before the other jurors, which was evident in both her reluctance to openly state that she had attempted to sue the Board of Education for job discrimination (R. at 162) and her question about whether she should vocally tell what her daughter did for the FBI (R. at 164). This reluctance was so noticeable that when counsel spoke in chambers about whether Ms. English's child had gone to school with one of the police witnesses, the court said, "Let's bring her in. With her[,] I don't want to do it out there in public. She has this thing about --" (R. at 203-204).

The prosecutor's explanation, based on the obvious reluctance of Ms. English to speak up in front of the other venire members, has no connection to race; consequently, it is race-neutral.<sup>4</sup> It is also related to the case being tried

---

<sup>4</sup>At trial, defendant did not articulate the Cantu (II) test for judging the prosecutor's explanation of the peremptory challenge. Defendant merely objected that he thought the challenged was solely on the basis of race. Because the different factors of the Cantu (II) test were not specifically raised, the trial court did not enter findings on each of the factors. The record supports implicit findings that the factors are met.

because it involves Ms. English's reluctance to speak up in front of the panel on this case.

The third requirement stated in Cantu is that the explanation be "clear and reasonably specific." Cantu (II), 778 P.2d at 518. The prosecutor did not challenge Ms. English just because she was "whiny," he articulated his concern that she was unwilling to speak out in front of the rest of the jury panel, and thus, "would [not] be a good juror with the other jurors." (R. at 216). Jurors have to communicate with each other during their deliberations and be willing to articulate their positions; Ms. English had shown herself unwilling to divulge much in front of the rest of the jury panel. The prosecutor was "reasonably specific" in giving this explanation for the challenge.

Finally, the reason was legitimate as evidenced by the trial court's statement that the explanation corresponded with his own observations of Ms. English (R. at 216). The record also supports the explanation. Ms. English would not speak out about her involvement in litigation even though six others had already divulged their involvement in open court (R. at 160-66). She instead asked to approach the bench and then wrote a note to the court about her involvement (R. at 162 and 203). Next, she was hesitant to explain what her daughter did for the FBI, although others had already divulged their relationship with law enforcement in open court (R. at 164). Her hesitancy to speak out was so noticeable that the court was going to bring her into chambers to ask her whether her child had gone to school with one



of the witnesses, stating that she had a "thing" about speaking up in open court (R. at 204). The prosecutor's explanation for challenging Ms. English meets the test set out in Cantu (II).

The other factors defendant cites in arguing that the challenge was not race-neutral are that (1) the prosecution did not demonstrate that the juror had a bias which justified the challenge; and (2) because similarly situated jurors were treated differently. Defendant did not articulate these factors below so the court did not address them. See State v. Johnson, 774 P.2d 1141, 1144 (Utah 1989) ("some form of *specific* preservation of claims of error must be made a part of the trial court record" in order to allow appellate review). To the extent that defendant's general objection that the challenge was racially motivated preserved these factors for argument, they are without merit.

The prosecution did not demonstrate that Ms. English had a particular bias because she was not challenged for bias. No one alleged that there was a "group bias" shared by Ms. English. This factor, quoted in Cantu (II), is only one of several whose presence "'will tend to show that the state's reasons are . . . an impermissible pretext.'" 778 P.2d at 518 (quoting State v. Slappy, 522 So.2d 18, 22 (Fla. 1988)). The fact that there was no allegation of either group or individual bias demonstrates that this factor is not relevant to this case.

Defendant's claim that Ms. English and Juror No. 11 were similarly situated is without basis in the record. While both of them handed notes to the judge to inform of their legal

involvement, the similarity ends there. By note, Juror No. 11 informed the court that he had been convicted of a crime similar to the charges here and had strong feelings about his arrest and about narcotics agents (R. at 192-93). The conviction had been expunged which explained the secrecy Juror No. 11 displayed by informing the court by a note. Based on this information, the court granted a challenge for cause and defendant did not object (R. at 192-94).

This situation is vastly different from Ms. English's. Her note informed the court about an attempted law suit regarding job discrimination which demonstrated little reason for the secrecy she showed (R. at 203). There also appeared to be little reason why she could not answer in open court when asked what her daughter did for the FBI; when informed she should "say it out loud," she said she wasn't sure what her daughter did (R. at 164). An attempted lawsuit and an answer that she did not know what her daughter did for the FBI did not justify the mystery with which Ms. English imbued them. Juror No. 11's expunged felony conviction was justifiably concealed from open court.

Juror No. 11's excusal for cause precludes any comparison with Ms. English's excusal on peremptory challenge. The reasons for and point at which they were excused show that they were not similarly situated. Since they were not similarly situated, a comparison of their excusals does not demonstrate a racially biased peremptory challenge.


In sum, defendant has failed to show that the trial court's finding that the challenge of Ms. English was not racially motivated is clearly erroneous. The prosecutor gave a legitimate, neutral and clear and reasonably specific explanation for the challenge which was related to the case. An objection to the prosecutor's use of a peremptory challenge is valid only when the challenge is based "solely" on the juror's race. Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 1719 (1986).

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully requests that this Court affirm defendant's conviction and sentence.